#### FILED SUPREME COURT Court of Appeals STATE OF WASHINGTON Division II State of Washington BY ERIN L. LENNON 1/4/2024 2:48 PM No. 57985-5 102713-3 STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES, INC., a Washington State Taxpayer, JOHN JOSEPH COX, a Washington State Taxpayer, and DEAN A. TAKKO, a Washington State Taxpayer,

Petitioners,

FILED

1/5/2024

CLERK

v.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON, a Public Institution of Higher Education and Agency of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Washington taxpayers Alexandria Real Estate Equities, Inc. ("ARE"), John Cox (an alumnus of the University of Washington ("UW")), and Dean Takko (a former longtimemember of Washington's Legislature) ask this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part II.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Transparent public bidding is a vital public policy in Washington, enacted by the Legislature, as a safeguard against fraud, corruption, and waste. In the so-called "leaseconstruction-lease-back" transaction at issue here, which UW admits is a "test case," a private developer agreed to demolish two UW buildings, construct a new building in their place ("Building"), give UW control over the Building's design and tenant selection, and relinquish ownership of the building to UW after 80 years in exchange for UW paying \$150 million in rent while occupying one third of the Building during the 80-year leasehold (the "Transaction").

Division II's published decision in Case No. 57985-5-II blessing the Transaction is untenable. Not only does it hold that UW has plenary authority to enter into the Transaction despite a specific statute that permits lease-construction-leaseback transactions only if certain conditions are met, but it also held that the \$150 million arrangement fell outside a public-bidding statute that applies to all state university development projects. Because Division II's published opinion conflicts with court decisions on public bidding and express statutory language and also raises issues of first impression that have broad public impact far beyond the parties in this case, the issues in this petition meet the criteria of RAP 13.4(b) and warrant this Court's review.

#### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

- A. When a Washington public higher education institution commits to pay millions in rent to a developer on the express condition that the developer perform demolition and construction work under a lease-construction-lease-back transaction, is that rent-based consideration a "cost" that implicates RCW 28B.10.350's competitive-bidding requirements for procurements for building, construction, and demolition in higher education?
- **B.** When a specific statute authorizes UW to enter into leaseconstruction-lease-back transactions for eight categories of buildings, but only if certain conditions are met, can UW override that express legislative direction and undertake a lease-construction-lease-back transaction that is not specifically authorized by the statute?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition presents issues of first impression regarding UW's use of a "new Public-Private Partnership model" ("P3"), CP 99, that involves a "different funding process than other University buildings." CP 701. UW admits it is a "test case" for the other 18 buildings that UW plans for the \$3 billion development of its West Campus, "[i]f it works." CP 274, 603, 608. When UW first embarked on this procurement, it secured \$20 million in appropriations from the Legislature in 2018 based on a representation that UW would construct a \$120 million building using an alternative public works method authorized under Ch. 39.10 RCW. CP 598, 612, 623–628, 639–642, 766. Instead, after it received this \$20 million appropriation, UW decided to pursue the new P3 model at issue here. UW now projects that the Building's overall cost will exceed \$250 million, CP 678–679, 842, and that UW's capital commitment will be at least \$71.8 million. Tr. Ex. 156 at 3.

In January 2020, UW released a request for qualifications. CP 305. The request stated that any developers shortlisted would participate in a request for proposals ("RFP"). CP 304. ARE and three other developers received the RFP in November 2020. CP 94, 162, 228. The RFP stated UW "may elect to work directly with the Developer on other similar projects in the future without further competitive requests for proposals," CP 109, giving developers not only a chance to construct the Building, but an

4

opportunity to construct—without further competitive bidding the West Campus's 18 other buildings (worth \$3 billion) using the same P3 structure.

The RFP attached three interrelated draft contracts ("Contracts") that provide for a lease-construction-lease-back arrangement, in which UW leases its land (Site W27) to the developer for 80 years "on the express condition" that the developer demolish the existing buildings, construct the Building, and lease back to UW between 10 and 30 percent of the Building. CP 136, 146. The RFP confirmed that UW will receive payments under its ground lease, but will give an advance commitment to the developer to pay it millions of dollars in rent under the Building lease. CP 122–123. Under this transaction, UW will control the Building's design, naming rights, and tenant roster. CP 107, 139. The Building will revert to UW's ownership at the ground lease's conclusion. CP 135, 161, 247. As UW later admitted in its briefing before the Court of Appeals, "UW's lease-lease-back plan for Site W27 helps UW provide a 'state-

5

of-the-art facility for research' and does so through entering 'a financing arrangement that leverage[s] funding sources and reduce[s] the costs of such complex facilities to the state.'" Resp. br. at 32.

After the developers submitted their RFP responses, in March 2021, UW selected Wexford Science + Technology, LLC ("Wexford"). CP 163.

Petitioners sued, asserting that the Transaction was illegal on two grounds: (1) UW lacks statutory authority to enter into a lease-construction-lease-back transaction ("Claim 1") and, independently, (2) the Transaction must be awarded using competitive, sealed bidding under RCW 28B.10.350, which UW failed to do ("Claim 2").<sup>1</sup> CP 735–42. In response, UW claimed that Petitioner' concerns are mere "sour grapes" of a disappointed bidder. Resp. br. at 53, 66; CP 57, 64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The trial court denied Petitioners' third claim, that the UW arbitrarily and capriciously selected Wexford, after a bench trial. CP 1456.

On March 10, 2022—after the trial court issued summary judgment in UW's favor on Claim 1 and Claim 2—UW's Board of Regents approved UW executing the Contracts with Wexford, which occurred in the weeks thereafter. Tr. Ex. 156 at 8–9; Tr. Ex. 157 at 1, Tr. Ex. 158 at 1, Tr. Ex. 159 at 1.<sup>2</sup>

In its December 5, 2023, published decision, Division II affirmed the trial court's summary judgment order on Claims 1 and 2. *See* Op. at 12–13, 16, 24. Several media outlets have published articles about this case and Division II's decision.<sup>3</sup> This timely petition follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> UW later amended the Contracts to increase the amount of rent it would pay Wexford as consideration in part for Wexford demolishing an additional building. *See* Tr. Ex. 157 at 1–2; Tr. Ex. 158 at 9. This amended agreement to demolish a second building and pay Wexford additional rent is the subject of a follow-on lawsuit that is pending appeal with Division II. *See Alexandria Real Estate Equities Inc. v. University of Washington*, No. 22-2-02911-34 (Thurston Cnty. Sup. Ct. 2023), Index # 71, Notice of Appeal to Court of Appeals (filed Dec. 22, 2023), *appeal docket number pending*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Lisa Stiffler, Univ. of Washington Set to Break Ground on 69-Acre Redevelopment to Create Seattle Innovation Hub, GEEKWIRE, Jan. 4, 2024, <u>https://www.geekwire.com/2024/univ-</u>

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Division II's published decision gives State public higher education institutions the green light not only to enter into novel lease-construction-lease-back transactions that lack statutory authorization, but also to evade competitive bidding laws. The public policy implications of this case, as well as the two novel issues of law it presents, warrant this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

of-washington-set-to-break-ground-on-69-acre-redevelopmentto-create-seattle-innovation-hub/; Marc Stiles, Court rules against Alexandria in dispute with UW over pivotal project, PUGET SOUND BUS. J., Dec. 6. 2023. https://www.bizjournals.com/seattle/news/2023/03/19/alexandri a-uw-lease-decision.html; University of Washington Prevails Over Alexandria in PBX Project Dispute, Dec. 6, 2023, THEREGISTRY, https://news.theregistryps.com/university-ofwashington-prevails-over-alexandria-in-pbx-project-dispute/; Dana Bartholomew, Court vindicates bid process for Wexford project in UW in Seattle, THEREALDEAL, Dec. 7, 2023, https://therealdeal.com/national/2023/12/07/court-oks-contractfor-wexford-project-with-uw-in-seattle/; Kurt Schlosser, UW prevails in lawsuit filed by developer that lost bid to build new clean energy research facility, GEEKWIRE, Mar. 8, 2023, https://www.geekwire.com/2023/uw-prevails-in-lawsuitdeveloper-that-lost-bid-to-build-new-clean-energy-researchfacility/.

#### A. This Court's Review Is Necessary Because Division II's Decision Would Allow Public Agencies To Evade Strong Public Policy In Favor Of Competitive Bidding Requirements.

The default principle is public bidding for higher education procurements that involve construction, remodeling, or demolition work. RCW 28B.10.350 provides that "[w]hen the cost to The Evergreen College or any regional or state university of any building, construction, renovation, remodeling, or demolition, other than maintenance or repairs, will equal or exceed the sum of \$90,000,"<sup>4</sup> then sealed bidding requirements apply.<sup>5</sup> Despite UW's advance commitment to pay \$150 million in rent "on the express condition" that the developer demolish two buildings and construct a new one, in response to Claim 2, Division II concluded that UW's costs were not a "cost" that

 $<sup>^4</sup>$  The current version of RCW 28B.10.350 increased this threshold to \$110,000.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Although RCW 28B.10.350 does not define "cost," it does not exclude lease-construction-lease-back transactions from its purview.

triggered RCW 28B.10.350's sealed bidding requirements. Op. at 16. Division II's decision condones an evasion of public bidding, clashing with various Washington authorities and a strong public policy in favor of a broad interpretation of competitive bidding statutes.

Washington courts have long recognized and respected the strong public policy in favor of competitive bidding requirements. Platt Elec. Supply v. Seattle, 16 Wn. App. 265, 269, 555 P.2d 421 (1976) (explaining that it is "well settled that there is a strong public policy in the State of Washington favoring competitive bidding laws"). This is because competitive bidding requirements "prevent fraud, collusion, favoritism, and improvidence in the administration of public business, as well as [] insure that the [public entity] receives the best work or supplies at the most reasonable prices practicable." Edwards v. City of Renton, 67 Wn.2d 598, 602, 409 P.2d 153 (1965); see also Equitable Shipyards, Inc. v. State By & Through Dep't of Transp., 93 Wn.2d 465, 473, 611 P.2d 396 (1980) (explaining

that "[t]he primary purpose of public bidding is to benefit the taxpayers by procuring the best work or material at the lowest price practicable" and that competitive bidding provides bidders "with a fair forum for the award of public contracts").

Courts afford competitive bidding statutes "more liberal construction." *Sw. Wash. Ch., Nat. Elec. Contractors Ass'n v. Pierce County*, 100 Wn.2d 109, 116, 667 P.2d 1092 (1983); *see also* 1984 AGO No. 17, at 10 (explaining that "any ambiguity relating to public works contracts is to be resolved in favor of utilization of a bidding procedure").

This Court has stated that it is "axiomatic that plans, schemes, or devices which thwart or circumvent the whole objects and purposes of [public bidding] statutory provisions are invalid." *Edwards*, 67 Wn.2d at 602–03. In other words, compliance with statutory bidding requirements is mandatory. *Manson Const. & Eng'g Co. v. State*, 24 Wn. App. 185, 190, 600 P.2d 643 (1979) (explaining that unless "permitted by

legislation, public contracts shall be let only after competitive bidding procedures have been complied with").

This Court has granted review of cases involving public bidding, because these cases inherently have broad public impact across the state. See, e.g., Sw. Wash. Ch., Nat. Elec. Contractors Ass'n, 100 Wn.2d at 116; Equitable Shipyards, 93 Wn.2d at 473; Painting & Decorating Contractors of Am. Inc. v. Ellensburg Sch. Dist., 96 Wn.2d 806, 810, 638 P.2d 1220 (1982) (holding on direct review that school district had to submit work to public bidding); Miller v. State, 73 Wn. 790, 794–95, 440 P.2d 840 (1968) (determining that procurement was subject to competitive bidding statute that applied "[i]nsofar as practicable"); *Edwards*, 67 Wn.2d at 601-02 (concluding that city's "financial arrangement" contravened "the purpose, intent and spirit of the pertinent municipal budget and bid statutes").

In this case of first impression, Division II failed to afford RCW 28B.10.350's sealed bidding requirements the deference that they are owed, conflicting with established Washington precedent. <sup>6</sup> Division II should have applied a "liberal construction" to what constitutes a "cost" to the State, as the Court of Appeals did in *Supporters of the Center, Inc. v. Moore*, 119 Wn. App. 352, 80 P.3d 618 (2003). There, after acknowledging that "[t]here is no bright-line definition of when a project is executed at the cost of the State," the Court of Appeals considered "both the source of the funding and the character of the project in deciding whether it [was] executed at the cost of the state." *Id.* at 358–59. Rather than apply the test set forth in *Supporters*—which focuses on a transaction's substance rather than self-serving labels—Division II here

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This Court often accepts questions of statutory interpretation that are matters of first impression. *See, e.g., State v. Grocery Manufacturers Ass'n*, 195 Wn.2d 442, 461 P.3d 334 (2020) (analyzing Fair Campaign Practices Act); *Birrueta v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn.2d 537, 379 P.3d 120 (2016) (determining whether statute addressed repayment of industrial insurance benefits); *Rental Housing Ass'n v. City of Des Moines*, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (considering whether city's response to Public Records Act request triggered statute of limitations); *Glass v. Stahl Specialty Co.*, 97 Wn.2d 880, 652 P.2d 948 (1982) (analyzing 1981 tort-reform legislation).

applied a narrow test that focused solely on how UW characterized what it would incur costs for—*i.e.*, space in the Building. *See* Op. at 16 ("Because UW will not incur any costs for, or closely associated with, 'building, construction, renovation, remodeling, or demolition,' former RCW 28B.10.350(1) and its competitive bidding requirements do not apply."). This test failed to follow the rule in *Supporters* instructing courts to consider the character and substance of the project when determining whether it is a "cost" to the State.

Furthermore, the Division II's decision to limit what constitutes a "cost" under RCW 28B.10.350 by excluding "rent" violates the rule that "[i]t is the function of the legislature, not the judiciary or an administrative agency, to circumscribe competitive bidding." *Manson Constr.*, 24 Wn. App. at 190. Indeed, as a matter of statutory interpretation, two related statutes within the same chapter—RCW 28B.10.300(5) and RCW 28B.10.320—both refer to "rental" as a type of "cost" of "construction" as used in those statutes. In ignoring RCW

14

28B.10.320 and dismissing RCW 28B.10.300(5) as not applying to the facts at hand, the court missed the forest for the trees: these statutory provisions demonstrate that the Legislature recognized <u>rent is a cost to the State</u>. *See* RCW 28B.10.300(5) ("to pay as <u>rental or otherwise the cost</u> of the acquisition"). Accordingly, Division II's decision conflicts with published Court of Appeals decisions and this Court's recognition of Washington's strong public policy favoring broad application of bidding requirements.<sup>7</sup>

Additionally, Division II's reasoning is of substantial public interest, as it draws a roadmap for *all* State higher education institutions to avoid competitive bidding requirements under RCW 28B.10.350(1), given that it applies to all

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> It is noteworthy that the Idaho Supreme Court has already determined that rent paid by a state agency as part of a lease-construction-lease-back transaction can be treated as a cost (there, an "expenditure") that implicates Idaho's competitive bidding laws under similar lease-construction-lease-back transactions. *Swensen v. Buildings, Inc.*, 93 Idaho 466, 467–69, 463 P.2d 932 (1970).

Washington public universities and Evergreen State College. Indeed, all a State higher education institution would have to do to evade RCW 28B.10.350-like UW did here-is structure a procurement so that any "cost" to the State is not formally labeled for building, construction, removation, remodeling, or demolition. The ability to so easily thwart application of competitive bidding requirements conflicts with Washington's strong public policy in favor of their broad application. Indeed, a 1988 AGO analyzing whether a lease-construction-lease-back transaction was "executed at the cost of the state" concluded that it would be contrary to public policy if State agencies could evade applicable requirements "by so easy a device as a lease/lease-back arrangement." 1988 AGO No. 17.8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This Court's insight on whether rent constitutes a "cost" would also resolve an alleged conflict between the 1988 AGO and a 2008 AGO. UW claims that the 2008 AGO supports the proposition that rent does not constitute a cost of construction, even though that AGO addressed a materially different type of contract that is expressly authorized under RCW 39.94 RCW. *See* 2008 AGO No. 10 (2008).

Public bidding is the overarching public policy in Washington to safeguard public funds from fraud, waste, and corruption. Anything like this P3 arrangement is the exception to that principle and must be narrowly construed. Division II failed to do so, and review by this Court is warranted.

B. Division II's Decision Conflicts With This Court's Precedent, Misinterprets The Legislature's Use Of The "Except As Otherwise Provided By Law" Limitation, And Has Significant Implications For Multiple Key Washington Stakeholders.

Rather than safeguarding the expenditure of public funds and effectuating the Legislature's intent, Division II's decision on UW's authority to undertake this novel lease-constructionlease-back construction arrangement directly contradicts this Court's prior precedent, undermining the Legislature's use of the phrase "except as otherwise provided by law" in many contexts. It also has far-reaching collateral consequences impacting Washington's public higher education institutions and Washington taxpayers. As such, guidance from this Court is warranted. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4). 1. Division II's Conclusion That UW Has Authority To Enter Into The Transaction Under RCW 28B.20.130(1) Conflicts With This Court's Precedent.

RCW 28B.20.130(1) affords UW's board of regents "full control of the university and its property of various kinds, except as otherwise provided by law." In University of Washington v. *City of Seattle*, 188 Wn.2d 823, 832, 399 P.3d 519 (2017), this Court stated that RCW 28B.20.130(1)'s "except as otherwise provided by law" provision is clear on its face: "the Regents' control over UW property may be limited, at least, by other applicable state statutes." (emphasis added). As a result, this Court concluded that where another law is *applicable*, UW's authority under RCW 28B.20.130(1) "must yield." Id. at 833 ("[I]f the [Growth Management Act ("GMA")] is applicable, then the regents' authority *must yield* unless there is a specific statute that conflicts with the GMA's application to a particular portion of UW's property." (emphasis added)).

In establishing this test, this Court specifically acknowledged that "there was no implicit amendment of RCW 28B.20.130(1), and there is no conflict between the statute [RCW 28B.20.130(1)] and the GMA." *Id.* Thus, this Court did not require the limiting statute to explicitly or implicitly amend or conflict with RCW 28B.20.130(1) for it to function as an "except as otherwise provided by law" limitation. *See id.*

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