FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/9/2024 3:35 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102713-3

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ALEXANDRIA REAL ESTATE EQUITIES, INC., JOHN JOSEPH COX, and DEAN A. TAKKO,

Petitioners,

v.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

PACIFICA LAW GROUP Paul Lawrence, WSBA #13557 Zachary Tomlinson, WSBA # 35940 W. Scott Ferron, WSBA # 61154 1191 Second Avenue, Suite 2100 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 245-1700

Attorneys for University of Washington

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. ARE Cannot Meet the Standard for Obtaining Review

Review is not appropriate under RAP 13.4(b). ARE cannot identify a single case in this Court or the Court of Appeals that holds a public entity entering into real estate leases must use a public competitive bid process. Nor can ARE identify a case that holds UW or any public university is limited in its authority to enter into a lease/lease-back transaction. At the end of the day, ARE is left to argue about public policy that, while undisputed, does not apply to the transactions at issue. Finally, ARE cannot show that the issues here are of substantial public interest requiring this Court's review.

B. The Court of Appeals' Determination that Competitive Bidding Requirements Do Not Apply to UW's Lease Is Consistent with the Statute and neither Conflicts with Precedent nor Implicates Public Policy Concerns

Site W27 is a private real estate development constructed solely at the cost—and risk—of a private developer. The trial court and the Court of Appeals correctly determined that RCW 28B.10.350 does not apply because UW's future rental payments are not costs of "building, construction, renovation, remodeling or demolition." Entering into a long-term lease for rent does not fall within the scope of the competitive bidding statute. The Court of Appeals' straightforward application of the competitive bid statute does not conflict with any prior Washington decisions nor raise significant issues of public interest.

Former RCW 28B.10.350 requires competitive bidding if a state university will incur over \$90,000 of costs for construction:

(1) When *the cost* to . . . any regional or state university of any *building, construction, renovation, remodeling, or demolition, other than maintenance or repairs,* will equal or exceed the sum of ninety thousand dollars, . . . complete plans and specifications for the work shall be prepared, the work shall be put out for public bid, and the contract shall be awarded to the responsible bidder who submits the lowest responsive bid.

(emphasis added). As an unambiguous matter of statutory interpretation, "if the construction is not being done at the cost of the university, then the construction is not for a public work and the statute would not apply." Op. at 14. The only thing that ARE identifies as "costs" to UW are its commitment to rent space in the building post-construction. Simply put, future rent payments—paid after construction is completed and with no adjustments based on the costs that Wexford actually incurs for constructing the building—are not construction costs. Accordingly, "[b]ecause UW will not incur any costs for, or closely associated with 'building, construction, renovation, remodeling, or demolition,' former RCW 28B.10.350(1) and its competitive bidding requirements do not apply." *Id.* at 16.

ARE's arguments that this decision conflicts with precedent fail. First, ARE points to cases stating the public policy in favor of competitive bidding requirements. Petition at 10-12 (citing, *inter alia*, *Manson Const. & Eng'g Co. v. State*, 24 Wn. App. 185, 190, 600 P.2d 643 (1979)). The Court of Appeals

recognized this public policy consideration. Op. at 13 ("Generally, public policy favors competitive bidding laws in Washington.") (citing Manson Constr., 24 Wn. App. at 190). But, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, the asserted public policy does not change the plain meaning of RCW 28B.10.350 or the fact that UW will not incur any costs or risks of construction. Id. at 14-16. See also Matter of Adoption of T.A.W., 186 Wn.2d 828, 840, 383 P.3d 492 (2016) ("If the statutory language is both plain and unambiguous, the meaning we give the statute must be derived from the statutory language The Court of Appeals' plain reading of RCW itself."). 28B.10.350 does not conflict with cases stating the public policy in favor of competitive bidding or directing that such statutes be construed broadly. A post-construction rental payment is not a cost of construction.

ARE next argues that *Supporters of Center, Inc. v. Moore*, 119 Wn. App. 352, 80 P.3d 618 (2003), conflicts with the Court of Appeals' construction of RCW 28B.10.350. Not so. In *Supporters*, the court examined whether an arts center was constructed "at the cost" of a public entity to determine if it was subject to the prevailing wage statute. The court concluded that it was constructed at the cost of the public entity because the majority of the construction funding came from a combination of (1) direct state funding and (2) so-called "advance rent" payments by the city that were intended to support construction. *Id.* at 356. Those "advance rent" payments were only agreed to and provided by the city during construction after the entity constructing the building "determined it could not complete the project without additional funds." *Id.* at 355 n.3. Together, the state funding and "advance rent" were approximately 52% of the "direct building cost." *Id.* at 360.

Supporters does not conflict with the decision below because "Supporters does not have application here." Op. at 16. As the Court of Appeals reasoned, "[t]he circumstances are not similar; UW is not making any *advanced* rent payments to actually fund the building's demolition or construction. The developer for site W27 will pay the demolition and construction costs in their entirety." *Id*.

ARE next points to statutory provisions that the Court of Appeals correctly determined were inapplicable. Petition at 14-

15 (citing RCW 28B.10.300(5)). According to ARE, this statute "refer[s] to 'rental' as a type of 'cost' of 'construction.'" *Id.* at 14. First, this type of claimed error does not fall within the scope of RAP 13.4. Second, ARE misleadingly declines to quote anything more than piecemeal words from the statute. Looking at the entire relevant portion, the statute authorizes the boards of regents of state universities to:

Contract to pay as rental or otherwise the cost of the acquisition of such lands and of the construction and installation of such buildings and facilities on the amortization plan[.]

RCW 28B.10.300(5). As the Court of Appeals noted in rejecting ARE's argument, "[t]his provision narrowly pertains to the acquisition of buildings and facilities *on an amortization plan*." Op. at 16 (emphasis in original). Here, as below, "ARE fails to explain how this apparent application can be broadly construed to equate lease payments to cost of construction in the general sense—especially when the statute does not have any relation to competitive bidding laws." *Id.* at 16.

ARE also references RCW 28B.10.320, which it did not cite below. Nonetheless, that statute also fails to support ARE's

argument. It states that the grant of authority in RCW 28B.10.300-330 shall be construed liberally, "and shall include authority to pledge for the amortization plan the net income from any and all existing and future lands, buildings and facilities of the nature described in RCW 28B.10.300" Like RCW 28B.10.300(5), this statute discusses a grant of authority to take on debt and enter into amortization plans to finance transactions. It does not bear on the meaning of "cost" in the public works statute, let alone mandate that lease payments be viewed as a cost of construction under that separate statute.

Finally ARE claims conflict with an opinion issued by the Attorney General's Office in 1988. Petition at 16 (citing 1988 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 17). Setting aside that conflict with an AGO opinion is not a basis for this Court's review, no conflict exists. Once again, ARE's source deals not with public bidding requirements but with the applicability of a prevailing wage law. The AGO concluded that a hospital district could not evade a prevailing wage law by outsourcing the construction of a public project to a private developer then immediately leasing back the entire premises. 1988 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 17. But the AGO

noted that the analysis was circular, because the question assumed the lease arrangement was for a public project meaning that the prevailing wage law had to apply. *Id.* The AGO also explained the limits of its opinion: "In the case of long-term leases where the useful life of the improvements will be substantially expended before they revert to the lessor, it seems unlikely that the construction of the improvements could be deemed a 'public work." *Id.* at 2. That caveat applies precisely to the Site W27 building, which reverts to UW at the end of the 80-year ground-lease long after the expiration of the useful life of the building. Finally, the opinion says nothing about the relevant question: whether post-construction rental payments can be viewed as costs of construction. It does not discuss rental payments at all. *See id.*

In 2008, the AGO offered a more salient opinion, weighing in on whether rental payments were construction costs. The Attorney General evaluated this question in connection with a project strikingly similar to the Site W27 lease/lease-back arrangement. *See* 2008 Op. Att'y Gen. No. 10. In examining whether that project was a public work, the Attorney General

concluded that lease payments did not constitute costs of construction. *Id.* The 2008 opinion also rejected the exact argument made by ARE based on the previous 1988 opinion, pointing to the caveat for "long-term leases where the useful life of the improvements will be substantially expended before they revert to the lessor." *Id.* at 17-18. It noted that the project was exactly such a situation. Accordingly, it was inappropriate to consider rental payments a "cost" of construction. *Id.*

Finally, public entities like UW routinely enter into lease rental agreements for their facilities. Such leases have never been subject to competitive bid requirements and routinely involve excess of \$90,000 in rent over the term of the lease. The lease here, like others, does not start until completion of construction. And the rent owed does not change based on the actual costs of construction, including cost overruns. ARE's arguments, unsupported by any Washington case law or the text of the competitive bid statute, would create an unwarranted and harmful sea change in how public entities lease space. ARE fails to identify any basis under RAP 13.4 why this Court should review the ruling below that UW's actions did not implicate the competitive bidding statute.

C. The Court of Appeals' Correct Determination that UW has Statutory Authority to Enter into a Leases/Leaseback Agreement Does Not Conflict with Precedent

In entering the Leases, UW properly exercised its statutory authority over its property. "[C]hapter 28B.20 RCW applies exclusively to UW and grants the UW Board of Regents expansive powers under statute." Op. at 10; RCW 28B.20.130(1) (granting UW Regents "full control of the university and its property of various kinds, except as otherwise provided by law."). ARE argues that this decision conflicts with this Court's decision *University of Washington v. City of Seattle*, 188 Wn.2d 823, 399 P.3d 519 (2017). But the Court of Appeals analyzed that decision and correctly held that unlike the statute at issue in *City of Seattle*, there is no limiting statutory provision here that restricts UW's authority under RCW 28B.20.130(1). The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with case law and will not wreak the havoc ARE concocts. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected ARE's argument that RCW 28B.10.300-305, a statute that provides an *additional* general grant of authority to all state and regional universities, somehow limits the *specific* grant of authority to UW in RCW 28B.20.130. RCW 28B.10.300-305 is a broad grant to all public universities and colleges in the state to take on debt and finance projects related to buildings used for certain purposes. Nothing in the statute purports to mandate certain actions or limit any existing authority granted to any university or college.

1. <u>ARE Misreads This Court's Prior Decision in a</u> <u>Vain Attempt to Create a Conflict</u>

As below, ARE argues that *City of Seattle*, 188 Wn.2d 823, supports its position. The Court of Appeals correctly determined the argument is fundamentally flawed. *See* Op. at 10-12.

In *City of Seattle*, this Court interpreted the "except as otherwise provided by law" provision of RCW 28B.20.130(1) in light of the requirements of the Growth Management Act ("GMA"). The GMA mandates that state agencies "comply with the local comprehensive plans and development regulations" adopted pursuant to state law. *City of Seattle*, 188 Wn.2d at 829 (citing RCW 36.70A.103). This Court held the GMA's mandate was a limitation on all state agencies and thus a limitation on UW's control over its property. *Id.* at 832.

Here, there are no claimed applicable statutes that, like the GMA, limit the grant of authority to UW in RCW 28B.20.130. Rather, ARE argues that RCW 28B.10.300-305, statutory provisions that grant *additional* authority to all state and regional universities, should be interpreted to act like the GMA to limit UW's authority.

RCW 28B.10.300-305 is a broad grant of authority to all public universities and colleges in the state for "[a]cquisition, construction, equipping and betterment of lands, buildings and facilities" including among other things, authority to enter into contracts and leases, and to borrow money and issue revenue bonds to support buildings that are primarily used for certain purposes. RCW 28B.10.300-305. This grant of authority is to be "liberally construed." RCW 28B.10.320. And nothing in RCW 28B.10.300-305 purports to limit any other existing authority that has been granted to any of the universities or colleges through other statutes including the broad authority

granted specifically to UW of "full control" of its property in RCW 28B.20.130.

The Court of Appeals evaluated these statutes and the holding in *City of Seattle* and concluded both statutes grant UW authority:

Without some language in RCW 28B.10.300 more overtly enacting a limitation on the authority of the universities, rather than merely acting as a grant of authority, the statute cannot be reasonably seen as functioning as an "except as otherwise provided by law" limitation of the broad authority given to UW from RCW 28B.20.130.

Op. at 12 (citing *Hood Canal Sand & Gravel, LLC v. Goldmark,* 195 Wn. App. 284, 300, 381 P.3d 95 (2016)). There is no conflict with *City of Seattle.*

To concoct a conflict, ARE proposes an illogical misreading of one phrase in this Court's opinion: "the Regents' control over UW property may be limited, at least, by other applicable state statutes." Petition at 18. ARE reads this to mean that any law that may be applicable is a limitation. *Id*. But the far more reasonable interpretation is that, if a law is applicable it *may* limit the Regent's control over UW's property. Whether it

actually *does* limit that control requires reading the law and seeing if it imposes a limitation. A law like the GMA, which compels agencies to comply with certain standards, contains a limitation. A law like RCW 28B.10.300, which is general grant of power to all state universities, does not contain a limitation.

2. <u>ARE's Other Statutory Arguments Do Not Meet the</u> <u>Standard for Review under RAP 13.4 and Fail</u> <u>Nonetheless</u>

ARE's other complaints about the Court of Appeals' statutory interpretation do not present a conflict between court decisions. Regardless, ARE's argument that the decision below makes RCW 28B.10.300-305 superfluous falls apart as soon as one reads the portions of the statute that ARE has not cherry-picked. Reading RCW 28B.10.300 and its related statutes in their entirety, it becomes clear they are primarily a grant of authority to take on debt, issue bonds, and enter in amortization plans for the projects discussed. *See* RCW 28B.10.300(4)-(6) (granting authority to take on debt, issue bonds, and pay the costs of amortization plans); RCW 28B.10.310-315 (discussing issuance of bonds for facilities discussed in RCW 28B.10.300); RCW 28B.10.325 (discussing interest rates "on the principal of

any obligation made or incurred under authority granted in RCW 28B.10.300"). Accordingly, RCW 28B.10.300 remains a robust grant of authority, regardless how one interprets UW's authority granted in RCW 28B.20.130.

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